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made a limited number of them.We decided consciously to focus on rec-
ommendations we believe to be most important, whose implementation
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Between 6:45 and 7:40,Atta and Omari, along with Satam al Suqami,Wail
al Shehri, and Waleed al Shehri, checked in and boarded American Airlines
Flight 11, bound for Los Angeles.The flight was scheduled to depart at 7:45.4





soon followed.The Hazmi brothers, sitting in 5E and 5F, joined Hanjour in the
first-class cabin.17

Newark: United 93.



Reports from two flight attendants in the coach cabin, Betty Ong and



Boston Center knew of a problem on the flight in part because just before
8:25 the hijackers had attempted to communicate with the passengers. The
microphone was keyed, and immediately one of the hijackers said, “Nobody





the hijackers were probably flying the plane.The call lasted about two minutes,



At 8:54, the aircraft deviated from its assigned course, turning south.Two
minutes later the transponder was turned off and even primary radar contact







Because several passengers on United 93 described three hijackers on the
plane, not four, some have wondered whether one of the hijackers had been
able to use the cockpit jump seat from the outset of the flight. FAA rules allow
use of this seat by documented and approved individuals, usually air carrier or







“WE HAVE SOME PLANES” 15



Virginia, which oversees daily traffic flow within the entire airspace system.
FAA headquarters is ultimately responsible for the management of the
National Airspace System.The Operations Center located at FAA headquarters
receives notifications of incidents, including accidents and hijackings.92

FAA Control Centers often receive information and make operational deci-
sions independently of one another. On 9/11, the four hijacked aircraft were
monitored mainly by the centers in Boston, New York, Cleveland, and Indi-
anapolis. Each center thus had part of the knowledge of what was going on
across the system.What Boston knew was not necessarily known by centers in







The controller checked to see if American Airlines could establish commu-
nication with American 11. He became even more concerned as its route
changed,moving into another sector’s airspace.Controllers immediately began
to move aircraft out of its path, and asked other aircraft in the vicinity to look
for American 11.108

At 8:24:38, the following transmission came from American 11:









Meanwhile, a manager from Boston Center reported that they had deci-
phered what they had heard in one of the first hijacker transmissions from
American 11:

Boston Center: Hey . . . you still there?
New England Region:







tify and follow the suspicious aircraft.The C-130H pilot spotted it, identified
it as a Boeing 757, attempted to follow its path, and at 9:38, seconds after
impact, reported to the control tower:“looks like that aircraft crashed into the





both aircraft were transcontinental 767 jetliners that had departed Logan Air-
port. Remembering the “we have some planes” remark, Boston Center
guessed that Delta 1989 might also be hijacked.Boston Center called NEADS
at 9:41 and identified Delta 1989, a 767 jet that had left Logan Airport for Las
Vegas, as a possible hijack. NEADS warned the FAA’s Cleveland Center to
watch Delta 1989.The Command Center and FAA headquarters watched it
too. During the course of the morning, there were multiple erroneous reports
of hijacked aircraft. The report of American 11 heading south was the first;
Delta 1989 was the second.















1.3 NATIONAL CRISIS MANAGEMENT



around the White House complex.The officials who issued these orders did







while the children continued reading. He then returned to a holding room





Among the sources that reflect other important events of that morning, there



















Prophet’s death, the question of choosing a new leader, or caliph, for the Mus-
lim community, or Ummah, arose. Initially, his successors could be drawn from







harsh repression of Islamic militants with harassment of moderate Islamic schol-
ars and authors, driving many into exile. In Pakistan, a military regime sought
to justify its seizure of power by a pious public stance and an embrace of



produced a common problem throughout the Muslim world: a large, steadily
increasing population of young men without any reasonable expectation of







refuge in the United States. From his headquarters in Jersey City, he distrib-
uted messages calling for the murder of unbelievers.28

The most important Egyptian in Bin Ladin’s circle was a surgeon,Ayman al
Zawahiri,who led a strong faction of the Egyptian Islamic Jihad.Many of his fol-
lowers became important members in the new organization, and his own close





fight in Afghanistan; some of them would participate in terrorist actions in the
United States in the early 1990s and in al Qaeda operations elsewhere, includ-
ing the 1998 attacks on U.S. embassies in East Africa.







Sudan Becomes a Doubtful Haven
Not until 1998 did al Qaeda undertake a major terrorist operation of its own,
in large part because Bin Ladin lost his base in Sudan. Ever since the Islamist
regime came to power in Khartoum, the United States and other Western gov-
ernments had pressed it to stop providing a haven for terrorist organizations.
Other governments in the region, such as those of Egypt, Syria, Jordan, and
even Libya, which were targets of some of these groups, added their own pres-





of potential trouble at home but potentially useful abroad.Those who joined









The Embassy Bombings
As early as December 1993, a team of al Qaeda operatives had begun casing
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The Justice Department and the FBI















posals to management in 1986, 1995, and 1997. No action was taken on them.
In 1997, a National Security Unit was set up to handle alerts, track potential
terrorist cases for possible immigration enforcement action, and work with the
rest of the Justice Department. It focused on the FBI’s priorities of Hezbollah











service, Congress concentrated its efforts on a “passenger bill of rights,” to
improve capacity, efficiency, and customer satisfaction in the aviation system.
There was no focus on terrorism.63

3.4 . . .AND IN THE INTELLIGENCE COMMUNITY

The National Security Act of 1947 created the position of Director of Central
Intelligence (DCI). Independent from the departments of Defense, State, Justice,





foreign countries, because it believed that this was an FBI role. It also did not
want to be viewed as targeting persons in the United States and possibly vio-
lating laws that governed NSA’s collection of foreign intelligence.68









mation over newfangled electronic systems, like email, to other agencies of the
U.S. government.79

Security concerns also increased the difficulty of recruiting officers quali-
fied for counterterrorism.Very few American colleges or universities offered
programs in Middle Eastern languages or Islamic studies.The total number of
undergraduate degrees granted in Arabic in all U.S. colleges and universities in
2002 was six.80 Many who had traveled much outside the United States could



Cuts in national security expenditures at the end of the Cold War led to





way against Weinberger, or even within his own department.Though Shultz



Act, which, among other things, mandated that promotion to high rank
required some period of duty with a different service or with a joint (i.e.,
multiservice) command.This had strong and immediate effects, loosening the
loyalties of senior officers to their separate services and causing them to think
more broadly about the military establishment as a whole.90 However, it also
may have lessened the diversity of military advice and options presented to the
president.The Goldwater-Nichols example is seen by some as having lessons
applicable to lessening competition and increasing cooperation in other parts
of the federal bureaucracy, particularly the law enforcement and intelligence
communities.

The second, related development was a significant transfer of planning and
command responsibilities from the service chiefs and their staffs to the joint







to develop plans and capability to preempt groups and individuals planning
strikes against U.S. interests.”95



ers requiring approval by the president worked their way through interagency
committees usually composed of departmental representatives at the assistant





home and abroad.Second,we will launch a comprehensive plan to detect,
deter, and defend against attacks on our critical infrastructures, our power
systems, water supplies, police, fire, and medical services, air traffic con-
trol, financial services, telephone systems, and computer networks. . . .
Third,we will undertake a concerted effort to prevent the spread and use
of biological weapons and to protect our people in the event these terri-
ble weapons are ever unleashed by a rogue state, a terrorist group, or an
international criminal organization. . . . Finally, we must do more to pro-
tect our civilian population from biological weapons.105

Clearly, the President’s concern about terrorism had steadily risen.That
heightened worry would become even more obvious early in 1999, when





So did the intelligence oversight committees. New digitized technologies,
and the demand for imagery and continued capability against older systems,
meant the need to spend more on satellite systems at the expense of human
efforts. In addition, denial and deception became more effective as targets
learned from public sources what our intelligence agencies were doing.There













ernment the possibility of expelling Bin Ladin.U.S.Ambassador Timothy Car-
ney encouraged the Sudanese to pursue this course.The Saudis, however, did









planned to brief cabinet-level principals and their deputies the following week,



it, from the vantage point of the driver looking through a muddy windshield

















sensitive relations with Pakistan in the wake of the May 1998 nuclear tests by
both Pakistan and India. Secretary Albright rejected the recommendation on
August 5, 1998, just two days before the embassy bombings.72 She told us that,
in general,putting the Pakistanis on the terrorist list would eliminate any influ-







on the battlefield against the Northern Alliance—and criminalize giving them
arms and providing military “advisers,” which Pakistan had been doing.









hijacking concern and the antiaircraft missile threat.To address the hijack-
ing warning, the group agreed that New York airports should go to maxi-





the cruise missile strike against Kandahar, the CIA’s leaders urged strengthen-
ing the language to allow the tribals to be paid whether Bin Ladin was cap-
tured or killed. Berger and Tenet then 









The same was true for the option of using ground units from the Special
Operations Command. Within the command, some officers—such as
Schoomaker—wanted the mission of “putting boots on the ground” to get at







mat that the UAE valued its relations with the Taliban because the Afghan rad-
icals offered a counterbalance to “Iranian dangers” in the region, but he also
noted that the UAE did not want to upset the United States.167

Looking for New Partners
Although not all CIA officers had lost faith in the tribals’ capabilities—many
judged them to be good reporters—few believed they would carry out an
ambush of Bin Ladin.The chief of the Counterterrorist Center compared rely-
ing on the tribals to playing the lottery.168







picture also seemed discouraging. Several disruptions and renditions aimed
against the broader al Qaeda network had succeeded.187



United States intersected. By early December, the CIA rated this possibility at
less than 15 percent.
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AL QAEDA AIMS AT THE 
AMERICAN HOMELAND

145

5.1 TERRORIST ENTREPRENEURS

By early 1999, al Qaeda was already a potent adversary of the United States.







back at his government job in Qatar.Yousef attempted to follow through on
the cargo carriers plan, but he was arrested in Islamabad by Pakistani authori-
ties on February 7, 1995, after an accomplice turned him in.8



that Bin Ladin likely agreed to meet with him because of the renown of his
nephew,Yousef.10

At the meeting, KSM briefed Bin Ladin and Atef on the first World Trade



KSM then accepted Bin Ladin’s standing invitation to move to Kandahar



months in Afghanistan. By 1998, Hambali would assume responsibility for the
Malaysia/Singapore region within Sungkar’s newly formed terrorist organiza-
tion, the JI.20

Also by 1998,Sungkar and JI spiritual leader Abu Bakar Bashir had accepted
Bin Ladin’s offer to ally JI with al Qaeda in waging war against Christians and
Jews.21 Hambali met with KSM in Karachi to arrange for JI members to receive
training in Afghanistan at al Qaeda’s camps. In addition to his close working
relationship with KSM, Hambali soon began dealing with Atef as well. Al
Qaeda began funding JI’s increasingly ambitious terrorist plans,which Atef and
KSM sought to expand. Under this arrangement, JI would perform the nec-
essary casing activities and locate bomb-making materials and other supplies.







then negotiate; (2) they considered the bombing of commercial flights in
midair—as carried out against Pan Am Flight 103 over Lockerbie, Scotland—
a promising means to inflict massive casualties; and (3) they did not yet con-
sider using hijacked aircraft as weapons against other targets.34

KSM has insisted to his interrogators that he always contemplated hijack-
ing and crashing large commercial aircraft. Indeed, KSM describes a grandiose
original plan: a total of ten aircraft to be hijacked, nine of which would crash



The Plan Evolves
Bin Ladin reportedly discussed the planes operation with KSM and Atef in a
series of meetings in the spring of 1999 at the al Matar complex near Kanda-









the flight, testing security by carrying a box cutter in his toiletries kit onto the
flight to Hong Kong. Khallad returned to Bangkok the following day. At the
airport, the security officials searched his carry-on bag and even opened the toi-





among those who shared his beliefs, Atta stood out as a decisionmaker.Atta’s
friends during this period remember him as charismatic, intelligent, and per-
suasive, albeit intolerant of dissent.





Ziad Jarrah





compel his wife to convert to Islam.Essabar’s parents were said to have
made repeated but unsuccessful efforts to sway him from this lifestyle.



explained that it was difficult to get to Chechnya at that time because many
travelers were being detained in Georgia. He recommended they go to
Afghanistan instead, where they could train for jihad before traveling onward











accounts.120 Charities were a source of money and also provided significant
cover, which enabled operatives to travel undetected under the guise of work-
ing for a humanitarian organization.









FROM THREAT TO THREAT 175

operation, Jordanian police arrested Abu Hoshar and 15 others and informed
Washington.4

One of the 16, Raed Hijazi, had been born in California to Palestinian 

















“Under the Taliban,Afghanistan is not so much a state sponsor of terrorism
as it is a state sponsored by terrorists.”61 In early 2000, the United States began
a high-level effort to persuade Pakistan to use its influence over the Taliban.





Tenet obtained a modest supplemental appropriation, which funded counter-
terrorism without requiring much reprogramming of baseline funds. But the
CIA still believed that it remained underfunded for counterterrorism.78

Terrorist Financing
The second major point on which the principals had agreed on March 10 was
the need to crack down on terrorist organizations and curtail their fund-raising.

The embassy bombings of 1998 had focused attention on al Qaeda’s
finances. One result had been the creation of an NSC-led interagency com-
mittee on terrorist financing. On its recommendation, the President had des-
ignated Bin Ladin and al Qaeda as subject to sanctions under the International
Emergency Economic Powers Act.This gave the Treasury Department’s Office
of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) the ability to search for and freeze any Bin
Ladin or al Qaeda assets that reached the U.S. financial system.But since OFAC
had little information to go on, few funds were frozen.







to take any such action without explicit U.S. authorization.





Clarke saw video taken during the trial flight, he described the imagery to





Investigating the Attack



nis also had identified Nashiri, whose links to al Qaeda and the 1998 embassy





rorist facilities in Afghanistan, and expulsion of all terrorists from Afghanistan
within 90 days. Noncompliance would mean U.S.“force directed at the Tal-
iban itself ” and U.S. efforts to ensure that the Taliban would never defeat the
Northern Alliance. No such ultimatum was issued.143

Nearly a month later, on December 21, the CIA made another presentation





mally referred to as the “Blue Sky” memo; it was sent to Clarke on December
29.The memo proposed

• A major effort to support the Northern Alliance through intelligence





us he asked Tenet whether the CIA could kill Bin Ladin, and Tenet replied that
killing Bin Ladin would have an effect but would not end the threat. President
Bush told us Tenet said to him that the CIA had all the authority it needed.158



sion Directive 62 of the Clinton administration had said specifically that
Clarke’s Counterterrorism Security 





















ing director during the summer. Freeh’s successor,Robert Mueller, took office
just before 9/11.







in a destroyer and 17 dead sailors, the Pentagon might have wanted to respond.
Instead, they have often talked about the fact that there is ‘nothing worth hit-
ting in Afghanistan’ and said ‘the cruise missiles cost more than the jungle gyms



The Defense Department favored strong action. Deputy Secretary Wol-





Saudi students and seek assistance at local mosques.He counted on their break-
ing off any such relationships once they moved to the East Coast.6 Our inabil-





hand, recalls visiting the mosque twice that day for prayers, both before and
after the meal.Bin Don’s recollection is spotty and inconsistent.Bayoumi’s ver-
sion can be challenged as well, since the mosque is close to the restaurant and
Bayoumi had visited it, and the surrounding area,on multiple occasions, includ-
ing twice within six weeks of February 1.We do not know whether the lunch





intended to move in because the apartment was too messy.When the landlord









Mohamed Atta to join him. On June 2,Atta traveled to the Czech Republic

















Five more—Wail al Shehri,Waleed al Shehri,Abdul Aziz al Omari,Mohand
al Shehri, and Ahmed al Nami—came from Asir Province, a poor region in
southwestern Saudi Arabia that borders Yemen; this weakly policed area is
sometimes called “the wild frontier.”Wail and Waleed al Shehri were brothers.
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Moqed, flew into Iran from Bahrain. In February 2001,Khalid al Mihdhar may
have taken a flight from Syria to Iran, and then traveled further within Iran to
a point near the Afghan border.125

KSM and Binalshibh have confirmed that several of the 9/11 hijackers (at
least eight, according to Binalshibh) transited Iran on their way to or from
Afghanistan, taking advantage of the Iranian practice of not stamping Saudi
passports.They deny any other reason for the hijackers’ travel to Iran.They also
deny any relationship between the hijackers and Hezbollah.126













August 13 through August 20. Moussaoui also purchased two knives and
inquired of two manufacturers of GPS equipment whether their products
could be converted for aeronautical use—activities that closely resembled those





began to make purchases suggesting that the planning was coming to an end.
In mid-August, for example, they bought small knives that may actually have
been used in the attacks. On August 22, moreover, Jarrah attempted to pur-
chase four GPS units from a pilot shop in Miami.He was able to buy only one
unit, which he picked up a few days later when he also purchased three aero-
nautical charts.

















That same day, the State Department notified all embassies of the terrorist
threat and updated its worldwide public warning. In June, the State Depart-
ment initiated the Visa Express program in Saudi Arabia as a security measure,
in order to keep long lines of foreigners away from vulnerable embassy spaces.
The program permitted visa applications to be made through travel agencies,
instead of directly at the embassy or consulate.13















A second cause of this disparity in response is that domestic agencies did
not know what to do, and no one gave them direction.Cressey told us that the
CSG did not tell the agencies how to respond to the threats.He noted that the
agencies that were operating overseas did not need direction on how to
respond; they had experience with such threats and had a “playbook.” In con-
trast, the domestic agencies did not have a game plan.Neither the NSC (includ-



Acting FBI Director Pickard told us that in addition to his July 19 confer-
ence call, he mentioned the heightened terrorist threat in individual calls with
the special agents in charge of field offices during their annual performance
review discussions. In speaking with agents around the country, we found lit-
tle evidence that any such concerns had reached FBI personnel beyond the
New York Field Office.



8.2 LATE LEADS—MIHDHAR, MOUSSAOUI,AND KSM

In chapter 6 we discussed how intelligence agencies successfully detected some
of the early travel in the planes operation, picking up the movements of Khalid
al Mihdhar and identifying him, and seeing his travel converge with someone
they perhaps could have identified but did not—Nawaf al Hazmi—as well as with



In addition, we found that the CIA did not notify the FBI of this identifi-



“John,” however, began a lengthy exchange with a CIA analyst, whom we will
call “Dave,” to figure out what these cables meant. “John” was aware of how
dangerous Khallad was—at one point calling him a “major league killer.” He
concluded that “something bad was definitely up.” Despite the U.S. links evi-







above deputy chief of a section within the Counterterrorism Division at FBI
headquarters.

One of the Cole case agents read the lead with interest, and contacted “Jane”
to obtain more information.“Jane”argued,however, that because the agent was





Zacarias Moussaoui



sought a special warrant under the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act to







dropped the matter.109 When additional pieces of the puzzle arrived in the





floor below the mezzanine. All three stairwells ran essentially straight up and
down, except for two deviations in stairwells A and C where the staircase jut-







As of September 11, the Port Authority lacked any standard operating pro-
cedures to govern how officers from multiple commands would respond to and
then be staged and utilized at a major incident at the WTC. In particular, there
were no standard operating procedures covering how different commands
should communicate via radio during such an incident.

The New York Police Department.







of overlapping expertise and responsibility.”The directive sought to accom-
plish this objective by designating, for different types of emergencies, an
appropriate agency as “Incident Commander.” This Incident Commander



ness accounts of the event. Most callers correctly identified the target of the
attack. Some identified the plane as a commercial airliner.



ians should stay low, remain where they are, and wait for emergency person-
nel to reach them.This advice was given to callers from the North Tower for



the South Tower stated that the incident had occurred in the other building and
advised tenants,generally,that their building was safe and that they should remain
on or return to their offices or floors. A statement from the deputy fire safety
director informing tenants that the incident had occurred in the other building
was consistent with protocol; the expanded advice did not correspond to any
existing written protocol,and did not reflect any instruction known to have been





the fireball. Floor-to-ceiling windows in the northwest corner of the West
Street level of the lobby had been blown out; some large marble tiles had been
dislodged from the walls; one entire elevator bank was destroyed by the fire-
ball. Lights were functioning, however, and the air was clear of smoke.52







cers from some PAPD commands lacked interoperable radio frequencies.As a



killed or severely injured;others were relatively unharmed.We know of at least



one location on the 100th floor, and severe smoke conditions were reported
throughout floors in the 90s and 100s over the course of the following half
hour.By 9:30, a number of civilians who had failed to reach the roof remained
on the 105th floor, likely unable to descend because of intensifying smoke in
the stairwell.There were reports of tremendous smoke on that floor,but at least
one area remained less affected until shortly before the building collapsed.



By 9:35, the West Street lobby level of the South Tower was becoming over-
whelmed by injured people who had descended to the lobby but were having
difficulty going on.Those who could continue were directed to exit north or
east through the concourse and then out of the WTC complex.93

By 9:59, at least one person had descended from as high as the 91st floor of
that tower, and stairwell A was reported to have been almost empty. Stairwell
B was also reported to have contained only a handful of descending civilians
at an earlier point in the morning. But just before the tower collapsed, a team
of NYPD ESU officers encountered a stream of civilians descending an
unidentified stairwell in the 20s.These civilians may have been descending from
at or above the impact zone.94

North Tower. In the North Tower, civilians continued their evacuation. On
the 91st floor, the highest floor with stairway access, all civilians but one were
uninjured and able to descend.While some complained of smoke, heat, fumes,
and crowding in the stairwells, conditions were otherwise fairly normal on
floors below the impact.At least one stairwell was reported to have been “clear
and bright” from the upper 80s down.95

Those who called 911 from floors below the impact were generally advised
to remain in place.One group trapped on the 83rd floor pleaded repeatedly to
know whether the fire was above or below them,specifically asking if 911 oper-
ators had any information from the outside or from the news.The callers were
transferred back and forth several times and advised to stay put. Evidence sug-
gests that these callers died.96

At 8:59, the Port Authority police desk at Newark Airport told a third party
that a group of Port Authority civilian employees on the 64th floor should
evacuate. (The third party was not at the WTC, but had been in phone con-





not transmit. He was also apparently unable to hear another chief who was
attempting to communicate with him from a portable radio, either because of
a technical problem or because the volume was turned down on the console
(the normal setting when the system was not in use). Because the repeater
channel seemed inoperable—the master handset appeared unable to transmit
or receive communications—the chiefs in the North Tower lobby decided not
to use it.The repeater system was working at least partially,however,on portable











The first NYPD ESU team entered the West Street–level lobby of the North
Tower and prepared to begin climbing at about 9:15 A.M. They attempted to



to evacuate injured or disoriented civilians. Numerous other NYPD officers





creating a massive debris cloud.The Marriott hotel suffered significant dam-
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Lack of Coordination among First Responder Agencies.
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Air Force One arrived at Offutt at 2:50 







WARTIME 329

Flights of Saudi Nationals Leaving the United States
Three questions have arisen with respect to the departure of Saudi









General Shelton briefed the principals on the preliminary plan for
Afghanistan that the military had put together. It drew on the Infinite Resolve
“phased campaign” plan the Pentagon had begun developing in November
2000 as an addition to the strike options it had been refining since 1998. But
Shelton added a new element—the possible significant use of ground forces—
and that is where President Bush reportedly focused his attention.48

After hearing from his senior advisers, President Bush discussed with Rice
the contents of the directives he would issue to set all the plans into motion.
Rice prepared a paper that President Bush then considered with principals
on Monday morning, September 17. “The purpose of this meeting,” he

















As best we can determine, neither in 2000 nor in the first eight months of



tence:“Iran and its surrogates, as well as terrorist financier Usama Bin Ladin and
his followers, have stepped up their threats and surveillance of US facilities



al Qaeda might kill, and how soon it might do it.At some level that is hard to







One prescient pre-9/11 analysis of an aircraft plot was written by a Justice









Insight for the future is thus not easy to apply in practice. It is hardest to
mount a major effort while a problem still seems minor. Once the danger has
fully materialized, evident to all, mobilizing action is easier—but it then may
be too late.

Another possibility, short of putting U.S. personnel on the ground, was to
issue a blunt ultimatum to the Taliban, backed by a readiness to at least launch
an indefinite air campaign to disable that regime’s limited military capabilities



























of greater opportunities to women—these cures must come from within Mus-





ticipant and Ramzi Binalshibh’s transfer of money to him.The U.S. govern-
ment was not able to capitalize on those mistakes in time to prevent 9/11.

We do not believe it is possible to defeat all terrorist attacks against Ameri-
cans, every time and everywhere.A president should tell the American people:

• No president can promise that a catastrophic attack like that of 9/11
will not happen again. History has shown that even the most vigilant
and expert agencies cannot always prevent determined, suicidal
attackers from reaching a target.

• But the American people are entitled to expect their government to
do its very best.They should expect that officials will have realistic



• opportunity and space to recruit, train, and select operatives with the
needed skills and dedication, providing the time and structure





• On terrorism,Pakistan helped nurture the Taliban.The Pakistani army
and intelligence services, especially below the top ranks, have long
been ambivalent about confronting Islamist extremists. Many in the
government have sympathized with or provided support to the
extremists.Musharraf agreed that Bin Ladin was bad.But before 9/11,
preserving good relations with the Taliban took precedence.





and girls are emerging from subjugation, and 3 million children have returned
to school. For the first time in many years,Afghans have reason to hope.11

But grave challenges remain.Taliban and al Qaeda fighters have regrouped
in the south and southeast. Warlords control much of the country beyond







against Iraq.American soldiers and airmen have given their lives to help pro-





against us? Does the US need to fashion a broad, integrated plan to stop the
next generation of terrorists? The US is putting relatively little effort into a
long-range plan, but we are putting a great deal of effort into trying to stop
terrorists.The cost-benefit ratio is against us! Our cost is billions against the
terrorists’ costs of millions.”22

These are the right questions.Our answer is that we need short-term action
on a long-range strategy,one that invigorates our foreign policy with the atten-





world. Neither Israel nor the new Iraq will be safer if worldwide Islamist ter-
rorism grows stronger.



• More vocational education is needed, too, in trades and business skills.
The Middle East can also benefit from some of the programs to bridge





Conventions establish a minimum set of standards for prisoners in internal con-
flicts. Since the international struggle against Islamist terrorism is not internal,
those provisions do not formally apply,but they are commonly accepted as basic
standards for humane treatment.

Recommendation: The United States should engage its friends to
develop a common coalition approach toward the detention and
humane treatment of captured terrorists. New principles might draw
upon Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions on the law of armed con-
flict. That article was specifically designed for those cases in which
the usual laws of war did not apply. Its minimum standards are gen-







diminish and their activities come under more scrutiny, and others have been
put out of business, although controlling overseas branches of Gulf-area char-
ities remains a challenge.The Saudi crackdown after the May 2003 terrorist
attacks in Riyadh has apparently reduced the funds available to al Qaeda—per-
haps drastically—but it is too soon to know if this reduction will last.

Though progress apparently has been made, terrorists have shown consid-
erable creativity in their methods of moving money. If al Qaeda is replaced by
smaller, decentralized terrorist groups, the premise behind the government’s
efforts—that terrorists need a financial support network—may become out-





Recommendation: Targeting travel is at least as powerful a weapon
against terrorists as targeting their money.The United States should
combine terrorist travel intelligence, operations, and law enforcement















Congress should set a specific date for the completion of these plans and
hold the Department of Homeland Security and TSA accountable for achiev-
ing them.

The most powerful investments may be for improvements in technologies
with applications across the transportation modes, such as scanning technolo-
gies designed to screen containers that can be transported by plane, ship, truck,



Recommendation: Improved use of “no-fly” and “automatic











sector to ensure preparedness.This is entirely appropriate, for the private sec-
tor controls 85 percent of the critical infrastructure in the nation. Indeed,unless
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HOW TO DO IT? A DIFFERENT WAY OF
ORGANIZING THE GOVERNMENT
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As presently configured, the national security institutions of the U.S.
government are still the institutions constructed to win the Cold War. The









operations, it becomes harder to play all the position’s other roles, including
that of analyst in chief.

The problem is nearly intractable because of the way the government is cur-



NCTC—Intelligence. The NCTC should lead strategic analysis,
pooling all-source intelligence, foreign and domestic, about transna-
tional terrorist organizations with global reach. It should develop net
assessments (comparing enemy capabilities and intentions against



NCTC—Authorities. The head of the NCTC should be appointed by the
president, and should be equivalent in rank to a deputy head of a cabinet
department.The head of the NCTC would report to the national intelligence
director, an office whose creation we recommend below, placed in the Exec-
utive Office of the President.The head of the NCTC would thus also report
indirectly to the president.This official’s nomination should be confirmed by



• There are precedents for surrendering authority for joint planning



13.2 UNITY OF EFFORT IN THE 
INTELLIGENCE COMMUNITY

In our first section, we concentrated on counterterrorism, discussing how to
combine the analysis of information from all sources of intelligence with the
joint planning of operations that draw on that analysis. In this section, we step
back from looking just at the counterterrorism problem. We reflect on
whether the government is organized adequately to direct resources and build
the intelligence capabilities it will need not just for countering terrorism, but
for the broader range of national security challenges in the decades ahead.

The Need for a Change
During the Cold War, intelligence agencies did not depend on seamless inte-



The need to restructure the intelligence community grows out of six prob-





• Too complex and secret.Over the decades, the agencies and the rules sur-
rounding the intelligence community have accumulated to a depth



Combining Joint Work with Stronger Management
We have received recommendations on the topic of intelligence reform from
many sources. Other commissions have been over this same ground.Thought-
ful bills have been introduced, most recently a bill by the chairman of the
House Intelligence Committee Porter Goss (R-Fla.), and another by the rank-
ing minority member, Jane Harman (D-Calif.). In the Senate, Senators Bob
Graham (D-Fla.) and Dianne Feinstein (D-Calif.) have introduced reform pro-
posals as well. Past efforts have foundered, because the president did not sup-
port them; because the DCI, the secretary of defense, or both opposed them;
and because some proposals lacked merit.We have tried to take stock of these
experiences, and borrow from strong elements in many of the ideas that have







• The National Intelligence Director would set personnel policies to
establish standards for education and training and facilitate assignments
at the national intelligence centers and across agency lines. The
National Intelligence Director also would set information sharing and
information technology policies to maximize data sharing, as well as
policies to protect the security of information.





• The post-9/11 Afghanistan precedent of using joint CIA-military
teams for covert and clandestine operations was a good one. We
believe this proposal to be consistent with it.Each agency would con-







extend the system to public agencies and relevant private-sector data-
bases, a government-wide initiative can succeed.

• White House leadership is also needed because the policy and legal
issues are harder than the technical ones.The necessary technology
already exists. What does not are the rules for acquiring, accessing,
sharing, and using the vast stores of public and private data that may
be available.When information sharing works, it is a powerful tool.
Therefore the sharing and uses of information must be guided by a
set of practical policy guidelines that simultaneously empower and
constrain officials, telling them clearly what is and is not permitted.





• We also recommend that the intelligence committee should have a
subcommittee specifically dedicated to oversight, freed from the con-





sible use of force. Such a document could provide both notice and a



Abuses of civil liberties could create a backlash that would impair the
collection of needed intelligence.

• Creating a new domestic intelligence agency would divert attention
of the officials most responsible for current counterterrorism efforts







• The FBI should report regularly to Congress in detail on the qualifi-
cations, status, and roles of analysts in the field and at headquarters.
Congress should ensure that analysts are afforded training and career
opportunities on a par with those offered analysts in other intelligence
community agencies.

• The Congress should make sure funding is available to accelerate the
expansion of secure facilities in FBI field offices so as to increase their
ability to use secure email systems and classified intelligence product
exchanges. The Congress should monitor whether the FBI’s
information-sharing principles are implemented in practice.

The FBI is just a small fraction of the national law enforcement commu-
nity in the United States, a community comprised mainly of state and local
agencies.The network designed for sharing information, and the work of the
FBI through local Joint Terrorism Task Forces, should build a reciprocal rela-
tionship, in which state and local agents understand what information they are
looking for and, in return, receive some of the information being developed



rorists might turn to hijacking and even use of planes as missiles.We have been
assured that NORAD has now embraced the full mission. Northern Com-
mand has been established to assume responsibility for the defense of the
domestic United States.
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CAP combat air patrol
CAPPS Computer Assisted Passenger Prescreening System



NORAD North American Aerospace Defense Command
NTSB National Transportation Safety Board
NSA National Security Agency
NSC National Security Council
NSPD national security policy directive
NYPD New York Police Department
OEM Office of Emergency Management (New York City)
OFAC Office of Foreign Assets Control
OIPR Office of Intelligence Policy and Review
OMB Office of Management and Budget
PAPD Port Authority Police Department
PDD presidential decision directive
PEOC Presidential Emergency Operations Center
SEC Securities and Exchange Commission
TSA Transportation Security Administration
TTIC Terrorist Threat Integration Center
UBL Usama Bin Ladin
WMD weapons of mass destruction
WTC World Trade Center
WTO World Trade Organization
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nium plot to destroy tourist landmarks in Jor-
dan

Caysan Bin Don (a.k.a Isamu Dyson, a.k.a Clayton Morgan) U.S.
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during the 1990s
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The Commission held 12 public hearings during the course of its investiga-
tion, convening for a total of 19 days and receiving testimony from 160 wit-
nesses. The following is a list of hearings and witnesses in order of their
appearance. All witnesses appearing during the 2004 calendar year testified
under oath.

FIRST PUBLIC HEARING
Alexander Hamilton Customs House, New York, N.Y.
March 31–April 1, 2003



Borders, Money, and Transportation Security
Glenn Fine, Inspector General, U.S. Department of Justice
Lee Wolosky, Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP
Gerald Dillingham, Director, Civil Aviation Issues, General Accounting Office

Law Enforcement, Domestic Intelligence, and 
Homeland Security

Michael Wermuth, RAND Corporation
Steven Brill,Author, After: How America Confronted the September 12 Era
Zoë Baird, Markle Foundation
Randy Larsen,ANSER Institute for Homeland Security

Immediate Response to the Attacks
Shawn Kelley,Assistant Chief,Arlington County Fire Department
William Baker,American Society of Civil Engineers
Ken Holden, Commissioner, New York City Department of 

Design and Construction

SECOND PUBLIC HEARING
Congress and Civil Aviation Security
Hart Senate Office Building,Washington, D.C.
May 22–23, 2003

Congressional Oversight
Representative Nancy Pelosi (D-Calif.)
Senator John McCain (R-Az.)
Senator Joseph Lieberman (D-Conn.)

Intelligence Oversight and the Joint Inquiry
Senator Bob Graham (D-Fla.)
Senator Richard Shelby (R-Ala.)
Representative Porter Goss (R-Fla.)
Representative Jane Harman (D-Calif.)

Affected Constituencies
Senator Charles Schumer (D-N.Y.)
Senator Hillary Rodham Clinton (D-N.Y.)
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SIXTH PUBLIC HEARING
Security and Liberty
Russell Senate Office Building,Washington, D.C.
December 8, 2003

Intelligence Collection within the United States
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National Policy Coordination
The Honorable Samuel R. Berger, former Assistant to the President for 

National Security Affairs
Richard A. Clarke, former National Coordinator for Counterterrorism,

National Security Council
Richard L.Armitage, Deputy Secretary of State





Admiral (select) Charles Joseph Leidig, United States Navy,
Deputy Director for Operations, National Military Command Center

General Ralph E. Eberhart, United States Air Force, Commander,
North American Aerospace Defense Command (NORAD) and 
United States Northern Command

Major General Larry Arnold, United States Air Force (retired),
former Commander, Continental United States NORAD Region (CONR)

FAA Response on 9/11
Monte R. Belger, former Acting Deputy Administrator, Federal Aviation 

Administration
Jeff Griffith, former Deputy Director,Air Traffic Control,

Federal Aviation Administration
John S.White, former Facility Manager,Air Traffic Control Systems 

Command Center, Federal Aviation Administration
Benedict Sliney, Operations Manager, New York Terminal Radar Approach 

Control, Federal Aviation Administration
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NOTES





1 “We Have Some Planes”





common tactics employed by the hijackers, the alleged shooting victim was seated where witness accounts place
the stabbing victim (9B), and, most important, neither Betty Ong nor Amy Sweeney, the only two people who
communicated to the ground from aboard the aircraft, reported the presence of a gun or a shooting. Both reported
knives and stabbings.AAL transcript, telephone call from Betty Ong to Nydia Gonzalez, Sept. 11, 2001;AAL tran-
script, telephone call from Nydia Gonzalez to Craig Marquis, Sept. 11, 2001;AAL transcript, telephone call from
Nancy Wyatt to Ray Howland,Sept. 11, 2001;Michael Woodward interview (Jan. 25,2004).The General Account-



38. Ibid.; Michael Woodward interview (Jan. 25, 2004).



24,2003);Linda Povinelli interview (Sept. 24, 2003); see also NTSB report,Air Traffic Control Recording—Amer-
ican Airlines Flight 77, Dec. 21, 2001;AAL record, Dispatch Environmental Control/Weekly Flight Summary for
Flight 11, Sept. 11, 2001.

55. Gerard Arpey interview (Jan. 8, 2004); Larry Wansley interview (Jan. 8, 2004);AAL record, System Opera-
tions Command Center (SOCC) log, Sept. 11, 2001.

56. FBI report,“American Airlines Airphone Usage,” Sept. 20, 2001; FBI report of investigation, interview of
Ronald and Nancy May, Sept. 12, 2001.





81. FBI reports of investigation, interviews of recipients of calls from Thomas Burnett, Sept. 11, 2001; FBI
reports of investigation, interviews of recipients of calls from Marion Britton, Sept. 14, 2001, through Nov. 8, 2001;
Lisa Jefferson interview (May 11, 2004); FBI report of investigation, interview of Lisa Jefferson, Sept. 11, 2001;
Richard Belme interview (Nov. 21, 2003).







129. FAA memo,“Full Transcript; Aircraft Accident; UAL175; New York, NY; September 11, 2001,” Jan. 17,
2002, p. 3.

130.“N90 [New York Terminal Radar Approach] controller stated ‘at approximately 9:00 a.m., I observed an



148. NEADS audio file, Identification Technician position, channel 7, 9:21:10.



ment of Natural Resources). But the seismic data on which they based this estimate are far too weak in signal-to-
noise ratio and far too speculative in terms of signal source to be used as a means of contradicting the impact time
established by the very accurate combination of FDR, CVR,ATC, radar, and impact site data sets.These data sets





208.USSS memo, interview of Gregory LaDow,Oct.1,2001,p.1.Shortly after the second attack in New York,
a senior Secret Service agent charged with coordinating the President’s movements established an open line with
his counterpart at the FAA,who soon told him that there were more planes unaccounted for—possibly hijacked—
in addition to the two that had already crashed.Though the senior agent told someone to convey this information







most accounts, Bin Ladin initially viewed Azzam as a mentor, and became in effect his partner by providing finan-
cial backing for the MAK.

23.In his memoir,Ayman al Zawahiri contemptuously rejects the claim that the Arab mujahideen were financed
(even “one penny”) or trained by the United States. See Zawahiri,“Knights Under the Prophet’s Banner,” Al Sharq
al Awsat











of the Visa-Issuance Process Phase I: Circumstances Surrounding the Issuance of Visas to Sheikh Omar Ali Ahmed







rity Strategy and Casework Oversight”). On the work of the National Security Unit and the Intelligence Unit, see
Daniel Cadman interview (Oct. 17, 2003); Cliff Landesman interview (Oct. 27, 2003).

44.For number of agents on Canadian border, the Canadian situation generally, and the inspector general’s rec-



53.Regarding intelligence reports, the Daily Intelligence Summary (DIS) prepared by the FAA’s Office of Civil
Aviation Intelligence was reviewed first by an assistant to Acting Deputy Administrator Belger, who would inform
him of any information that she felt merited his attention. Belger in turn would determine whether the informa-
tion needed to be raised with Administrator Garvey. Garvey told us that she maintained an open door policy and
counted on her security staff to keep her informed on any pressing issues. Jane Garvey interview (Oct. 21, 2003);



63. Jane Garvey interview (Oct. 21, 2003).
64.As defined by statute, covert action “means an activity or activities of the United States Government to influ-







President Clinton, in a February 2002 speech to the Long Island Association, said that the United States did
not accept a Sudanese offer and take Bin Ladin because there was no indictment. President Clinton speech to the
Long Island Association, Feb. 15, 2002 (videotape of speech). But the President told us that he had “misspoken”
and was, wrongly, recounting a number of press stories he had read.After reviewing this matter in preparation for
his Commission meeting, President Clinton told us that Sudan never offered to turn Bin Ladin over to the United



view, see Anthony Zinni interview (Jan. 29, 2004).













165.Theodore Kattouf interview (Apr. 21, 2004). Kattouf was the U.S. ambassador to the UAE from 1999 to
2001. He indicated that high-level UAE officials would agree to restrict Afghan flights but told him that the gov-
ernment had a difficult time enforcing this. For communications with the UAE, see White House letter, President







19, 2004. On KSM’s assistance to al Qaeda, see Intelligence reports, interrogations of KSM, July 12, 2003 (two
reports). On Bin Ladin’s decision to approve 9/11 operation, see Intelligence report, interrogation of KSM, Jan. 9,



KSM,Nov. 21, 2003.On Nashiri’s idea for his first terrorist operation and his travels, see Intelligence reports, inter-
rogations of Nashiri, Nov. 21, 2002; Dec. 26, 2002.

28. Intelligence report, interrogation of Nashiri,Dec.26,2002.Although Nashiri’s account of this episode dates









69. German BKA report, investigative summary re Binalshibh, July 4, 2002.
70. CIA analytic report, “The Plot and the Plotters,” June 1, 2003, p. 23; German BKA report, investigative

summary re Shehhi, July 9, 2002.





















87. See NSC memo, Kurtz to Berger, June 28, 2000; NSC document,TNT to Berger, Nov. 3, 1998, roadmap





119. NSC note, Clarke to Berger,“Procedures for Protecting Predator,” Sept. 30, 2000. Clarke pointed to a sil-



istration working with Russia, see NSC memo,Berger to President Clinton, update on 





Clarke to NSC Front Office and others,“Captured Al Qida Terrorist Met UBL Then Were to Attack US in Saudi



202. See, e.g., Condoleezza Rice testimony,Apr. 8, 2004; Richard Clarke interview (Feb. 3, 2004).
203. Richard Clarke interview (Jan. 12, 2004).
204. Condoleezza Rice meeting (Feb. 7, 2004).
205. DOS cable, State 111711,“Demarche on Threat by Afghan-based Terrorists,” June 27, 2001. Under Sec-











place Bayoumi in Thumairy’s circle of associates. KSM has denied knowing Bayoumi. Intelligence report, interro-
gation of KSM,Aug. 18, 2003.









Essabar may have been intended to replace Binalshibh. Like Atta, Shehhi, and Jarrah, Essabar obtained a new
passport even though his old one was nearly a year from expiration, evidently to conceal his prior travel to
Afghanistan during the first half of 2000. On December 12, 2000, and January 28, 2001—after Binalshibh’s four
U.S.visa applications had been denied—Essabar made two unsuccessful U.S.visa applications, stating that he wished









280350-302, serial 381; 265A-NY-280350-MM, serial 3817). For Shehhi’s presence in Florida, see, e.g., ibid. (Apr.
13, 2001, entry citing 265A-NY-280350-302, serial 17575).

81. For Shehhi’s ticket purchase, see FBI report,“Hijackers Timeline,” Dec. 5, 2003 (Apr. 13, 2001, entry cit-
ing 265A-NY-280350-302, serial 17575;Apr. 18, 2001 entry citing 265A-NY-280350-CG, serial 1928; 265A-NY-
280350-302, serial 16379;Apr.19,2001,entry citing CIA report;265A-NY-280350-302, serial 17575).For Shehhi’s
visit with Atta’s father, see ibid. (Apr. 20, 2001, entry citing CIA report). For Atta having license during April 26,
2001, traffic stop and Shehhi spending two weeks abroad, see ibid. (citing 265A-NY-280350-MM,serial 2746;May
2,2001,entry citing 265A-NY-280350-302, serial 16379;265A-NY-280350-CG,serial 1928);FBI Penttbom time-
line briefing (Dec. 10-11, 2003).



edge that the commander of al Faruq training camp was known to urge trainees to swear bayat. Moreover, peer
pressure certainly appears to have been a factor in swaying recruits to choose “martyrdom.” Intelligence report,
interrogation of KSM,Apr. 30, 2004.















recently, Binalshibh has claimed that he neither called nor sent a letter to KSM, but rather passed a verbal message
via Essabar. Intelligence report, interrogation of Binalshibh,Apr. 8, 2004. On Binalshibh’s communication to Ess-
abar, see Intelligence reports, interrogations of Binalshibh, Dec. 17, 2002; Nov. 6, 2003;Apr. 8, 2004.

174.On Binalshibh’s travel, see FBI report,“Summary of Penttbom Investigation,”Feb.29,2004 (classified ver-
sion), p. 84. On Binalshibh’s communication with Atta, see Intelligence report, Documents captured with KSM,
Sept. 24, 2003; Intelligence report, interrogation of Binalshibh, Sept. 11, 2003. On Atta’s call to his father, see Intel-
ligence report, re Atta, Sept. 13, 2001. On Jarrah’s letter, see German BKA report, investigative summary re Jarrah,
July 18, 2002, p. 67.

175. Shortly after 9/11,Abdullah told at least one witness that the FBI was asking questions about his having
received a phone a call from Hazmi in August. FBI report of investigation, interview, Sept. 24, 2001. In a July 2002
FBI interview,Abdullah asked whether the FBI had taped the call. FBI report of investigation, interview of Mohdar
Abdullah, July 23, 2002.Also on possibility of Hazmi-Abdullah contact shortly before 9/11, see Danny G. inter-
views (Nov. 18, 2003; May 24, 2004). On the change in Abdullah’s mood, see FBI report of investigation, interview
of Mohdar Abdullah, July 23, 2001. On the sudden interest of Abdullah and Salmi in proceeding with marriage
plans, see FBI report of investigation, interview, Sept. 24, 2001; FBI report of investigation, interview of Samir
Abdoun, Oct. 21, 2001. On anticipated law enforcement interest in gas station employees and September 10, 2001,
meeting, see FBI report of investigation, interview, May 21, 2002.

176. Intelligence report, interrogation of detainee, Feb. 5, 2002.



SD, serial 1522; 315N-NY-280350-302, serials 16597, 5029, 6072, 11098, 11114, 11133, 4119; 315N-NY-280350-
BS, serials 349, 19106, 16624; 315N-NY-280350-CD, serial 373; 315N-NY-280350, serials 7441, 21340; 315N-









tor General interviews of Steve B., Sept. 16, 2002; Nov. 14, 2002;Al S. interviews (Aug. 26, 2003; Sept. 15, 2003).
The DOJ Inspector General came to the same conclusion. See DOJ Inspector General report,“A Review of the











Authority response to Commission interrogatory, May 2004. For the fire alarm, see PANYNJ interview 10 (June
16, 2004); PANYNJ interview 7 (June 2, 2004).

10.Port Authority memorandum to Commission for Nov.3,2003 meeting;WTC interview 6 (May 25,2004).
11. For fire safety teams, see PANYNJ Interview 7 (Jun. 2, 2004). For fire drill procedures, see Civilian inter-

view 1 (Mar. 2, 2004); Civilian interview 10 (Mar. 24, 2004). For aids to the September 11 evacuation, see, e.g.,
Civilian interview 14 (Apr. 7, 2004); Civilian interview 20 (May 4, 2004); Civilian interview 21 (May 4, 2004);
Civilian Interview 13 (Mar. 25, 2004).

12. For instructions to civilians, see, e.g., Civilian interview 20 (May 4, 2004); Civilian interview 21 (May 4,
2004); Civilian interview 12 (May 4, 2004); Stanley Praimnath testimony, May 18, 2004 (videotaped). For civilians’
participation, see Civilian interview 10 (Mar. 24, 2004); Civilian interview 15 (Apr. 21, 2004); Commission analy-
sis of letters written to OSHA concerning the September 11 attacks. For civilians not being instructed not to evac-





a major incident had occurred, see,e.g.,Civilian interview 13 (Mar.25,2004);Civilian interview 10 (Mar.24,2004).
Some of them could actually feel the heat from the explosion in the North Tower. See, e.g., Civilian interview 10
(Mar. 24, 2004); Civilian interview 15 (Apr. 21, 2004). For people deciding to leave or being advised to do so by
fire wardens, see, e.g., Civilian interview 1 (Mar. 2, 2004); Civilian interview 8 (Mar. 23, 2004); Civilian statement



4, Chief (Jan. 8, 2004); FDNY interview 15, Chief (Jan. 14, 2004); PANYNJ interview 13 (Nov. 20, 2003). For lack
of concern about a second plane, see FDNY interview 63, Chief (May 16, 2004).

56. FDNY interview 4, Chief (Jan. 8, 2004); FDNY interview 15, Chief (Jan. 14, 2004).





in offices or otherwise obstructed from proceeding,or were simply calling to seek advice. In any case, the 911 oper-
ators and FDNY dispatchers who advised them did not appear to be basing their advice on these or other factual
considerations.

97. Port Authority transcripts of recorded Port Authority calls and radio channels, Sept. 11, 2001.
98. For the evacuation route for civilians, see Civilian interview 6 (Mar. 22, 2004); Civilian interview 7 (Mar.

22, 2004); Civilian interview 14 (Apr. 7, 2004); Civilian interview 9 (Mar. 23, 2004); PANYNJ interview 7 (Jun. 2,
2004).

99. FDNY interview 40, Battalion 4 (Feb. 12, 2004); FDNY interview 16, Battalion 1 (Jan. 20, 2004); FDNY



interview 40, Battalion 4 (Feb. 12, 2004); FDNY interview 24, Battalion 6 (Jan. 23, 2004); FDNY interview 10,
Battalion 1 (Jan. 12, 2004); FDNY interview 20, Battalion 6 (Jan. 22, 2004).

114. FDNY interview 23,Chief (Jan. 23, 2004); FDNY interview 30,Battalion 4 (Jan. 30, 2004); FDNY inter-
view 13, Battalion 1 (Jan. 13, 2004); FDNY interview 29, Battalion 1 (Jan. 29, 2004); FDNY interview 26, Battal-
ion 8 (Jan. 28, 2004).

115. FDNY interview 40, Battalion 4 (Feb. 12, 2004); FDNY interview 20, Battalion 6 (Jan. 22, 2004); FDNY
interview 16, Battalion 1 (Jan. 20, 2004); FDNY interview 29, Battalion 1 (Jan. 29, 2004); FDNY interview 13,



126. For the chief ’s perspective, see FDNY interview 43, Chief (Mar. 3, 2004). For the four companies, see
FDNY interview, transcript 13, Battalion 11, Dec. 12, 2001.

127.FDNY interview 43,Chief (Mar.3,2004).For finding working elevator in North Tower, see FDNY inter-
view 53, Battalion 11 (Apr. 14, 2004).

128. For the second alarm, see FDNY interview 6, HQ (Jan. 8, 2004). For the other units, see FDNY records,
computer-aided dispatch report, alarm box 1377,Sept.11,2001,09:42:45–09:47:05.For some having gone through
the tunnel and responded to the Marriott, see FDNY interview, transcript 15, Battalion 48, Dec. 13, 2001.

129. Port Authority recording,WTC channel 30 (repeater channel), Sept. 11, 2001.
130.FDNY interview 42,Field Comm (Feb.13,2004);FDNY interview 45,HQ (Mar.8,2004);FDNY inter-



of recorded Port Authority calls and radio channels, Sept. 11, 2001, vol. II, channel W, p. 26. For others climbing
toward the impact zone, see PAPD statement 4,Administration Command, Nov. 24, 2001.









cers and one of the firefighters in the North Tower, at least some FDNY personnel were unwilling to take evacu-
ation orders from police that morning.







heard if there had been anything unusual about it.The pilot said he followed standard procedures and filed his flight





50. NSC memo,“Conclusions of National Security Council Meeting,” Sept. 17, 2001.
51. See NSC memo, Rice to Cheney, Powell, O’Neill, Rumsfeld,Ashcroft, Gonzales, Card,Tenet, and Shelton,















The proposed National Counterterrorism Center should offer one-stop shopping to agencies with counterterror-
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